

# Tecnura

https://revistas.udistrital.edu.co/ojs/index.php/Tecnura/issue/view/1102 DOI: https://doi.org/10.14483/22487638.17994

REVISIÓN DE TEMA

# Taxonomy of Outsourcing Alternatives Through Systematic Literature Review

Taxonomía de las alternativas de outsourcing mediante revisión sistemática de literatura

Cesar Augusto López Ramírez 1, Rafael Guillermo García Cáceres 2, Jenny Mairena Herrera Rodríguez 5

**Fecha de Recepción**: 12 de mayo de 2021 **Fecha de Aceptación**: 20 de octubre de 2021

**Cómo citar**: López-Ramírez., C.A. García-Cáceres., R.G. y Herrera-Rodríguez., J.M. (2022). Taxonomy of Outsourcing Alternatives Through Systematic Literature Review. *Tecnura*, **26**(71), 124-144. https://doi.org/10.14483/22487638.17994

#### **Abstract**

**Objective:** To facilitate supply chain management and decision-making processes. The case of Latin America as an outsourcing option is analyzed to illustrate its application.

**Methodology:** A taxonomy supported in Systematic Literature Review is presented to determine the logistics outsourcing strategy that a company or supply chain should develop, along with the alternatives of offshoring and nearshoring. To determine the decision criteria, a literature review is carried out and a characterization of the central criteria of the two strategies is provided.

**Results:** The offshoring alternative usually provides benefits related to lower manufacturing costs and is ideal for mass production. On the other hand, nearshoring is focused on greater flexibility, which makes it ideal for products with a higher profit margin to exclusive markets.

Conclusions: Currently, Latin America seems a great option for both offshoring and nearshoring, especially for the US, Canada, and European countries. To make this possible, governments and companies have to reformulate their political-private growth strategies focused on clear plans that promote the development of productive, logistical, technological, and innovation capacities, as well as the promotion of foreign investment, educational and scientific development, and the growth of regional demands.

Financing: Universidad Pedagógica y Tecnológica de Colombia (UPTC).

Keywords: Nearshore, Offshore, Onshore, Outsourcing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Master of Industrial Engineering. Industrial Engineering. Escuela de Ingeniería Industrial, Universidad Pedagógica y Tecnológica de Colombia. Sogamoso, Colombia.

Email: cesar.lopez04@uptc.edu.co

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Doctorate industrial engineering. Industrial Engineering. Associate Professor, Escuela de Ingeniería Industrial, Universidad Pedagógica y Tecnológica de Colombia. Sogamoso, Colombia. Email: rafael.garcia01@uptc.edu.co

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Business Administration. Full time professor. Escuela de Ingeniería Industrial, Universidad de Boyacá. Sogamoso, Colombia. Email: catoledob@udistrital.edu.co

#### Resumen

**Objetivo:** Facilitar la gestión de la cadena de suministro y los procesos de toma de decisiones. Se analiza el caso de América Latina como opción de outsourcing para ilustrar su aplicación.

**Metodología:** Se presenta una taxonomía soportada en *Systematic Literature Review* para determinar la estrategia de outsourcing logístico que debe desarrollar una empresa o cadena de suministro, entre las alternativas de deslocalización y *nearshoring*. Para determinar los criterios de decisión, se realiza una revisión de la literatura y se proporciona una caracterización de los criterios centrales de las dos estrategias.

**Resultados:** La alternativa de *offshoring* suelen brindar beneficios relacionados con mayores capacidades productivas que inciden en menores costos de fabricación, lo que la hace idónea para la producción de productos masivos. Las ventajas de *nearshoring* se centran en una mayor flexibilidad, lo que lo hace idóneo para la producción de productos con mayor margen de utilidad a mercados exclusivos.

**Conclusiones:** Latinoamérica aparece en el momento como una gran opción tanto para *offshoring* como para *nearshoring*, especialmente para EE.UU., Canadá y los países Europeos. Para esto, los estados y las compañías deben reformular sus estrategias de crecimiento político-privado centrado en estrategias claras que promuevan el desarrollo de capacidades productivas, logísticas, tecnológicas y de innovación, el fomento a la inversión extranjera, el desarrollo educativo y científico, y el crecimiento de las demandas regionales.

Financiación: Universidad Pedagógica y Tecnológica de Colombia (UPTC).

Palabras clave: Nearshore, Offshore, Onshore, Outsourcing.

## **Table of Contents**

	Page
Introduction	126
Methodology	127
Search the literature	127
Offshoring	. 127
Nearshoring	
Extracting data	. 129
Contrasting nearshore and offshore strategies	. 129
Analyzing and synthesizing data	. 132
Outsourcing location decision	. 132
Report findings	. 135
The Latin American case	. 135
Results and conclusions	138
Financing	138
References	138

#### Introduction

The economic and social dynamics of globalization processes and the consequent foreign investment have led companies and governments—including Latin America to reformulate their growth strategies. This implies the advancement of productive efficiency, innovation, human capital competitiveness, and market internationalization processes. Otherwise, the region may not be able to reach the productivity levels of developed economies within adequate time table works (Ruiz-Arranz et al., 2018). Given the characteristics of organizations in the region, small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) might constitute important factors within these social and economic processes, especially considering their large numbers and impact as the first source of employment in these countries (Liesch & Knight, 1999, Oviatt & McDougall, 2004).

For the decision makers of a company, the choice to outsource operations is important and complex since it affects the whole supply chain and affects both the investing company and the hosting country (Bunyaratavej et al., 2008). Investing in foreign countries brings about the basic benefit of opening new markets and lowering logistic and manufacturing costs, and it represents changes in profitability and market position (Gylling et al., 2015). However, outsourcing also implies some risks such as governability reduction and normative, and social and political instabilities, among others. Likewise, social and political costs are involved, especially regarding employment reduction in the country of origin. For their part, the economic costs involve the identification and operation of the company in the new country (Eden & Miller, 2004). It is worth mentioning that outsourcing is not only associated with goods but also services, which have become an important investment and development source in emerging economies.

Nearshoring and offshoring are two different outsourcing modes for companies and characterize by contrasting geographical locations. While offshoring refers to outsourcing in distant countries from the headquarters of the company, nearshoring is adjacent outsourcing, (i.e., it takes place in neighboring countries with shared geographical limits and cultural affinity) (Bock, 2008).

Both nearshoring and offshoring constitute supply chain logistic and productive strategies with profound implications on the profitability and operation of a business within the larger network wherein it is immersed (García Cáceres & Escobar, 2016, Riopel et al., 2005, Rodado et al., 2017). The selection of a pure or mixed alternative is of particular interest in supply chain management contexts, both in theoretical and applied contexts. According to (Hahn et al., 2011), although services and production processes (especially nearshoring) are considered important and contemporary topics in the study of supply chain management, they have not been sufficiently studied. (Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009) acknowledge this as a sensitive decision which should be based on the type of activities to be offshored and the relative importance of the specific hosting country and its human capital.

#### **METHODOLOGY**

The current work is structured as follows: First, a review of the literature on the topic highlights the central characteristics of outsourcing strategies; second, a novel development is introduced, which determines the criteria to be considered in this type of decision; third, an outsourcing decision model and its corresponding test compare nearshoring to offshoring in Latin America; and, finally, conclusions and recommendations are drawn.

This work is supported in the Systematic Literature Review (Xiao & Watson, 2019) whose deployment is presented below.

- Search the literature
- Extract data
- Analyze and synthesize data
- Report findings

# SEARCH THE LITERATURE

## Offshoring

Since the early 1990s, regardless of the adopted governance mode, offshoring has become one of the most widely implemented strategies on the part of western manufacturing companies to maintain or enhance their competitive advantage (Contractor *et al.*, 2010). These strategies are primarily based on scale economies resulting from the high manufacturing capacities, low cost and increasing skillfulness of offshored labor, which can be specially found in Asian countries with large populations.

Offshoring (also known as "offshore sourcing") has been defined as the outsourcing alternative in which the activities that an organization subcontracts, including both manufacturing and services, take place in a distant foreign country with a significantly different culture (Di Gregorio et al., 2009, Kehal & Singh, 2006, Schmeisser, 2013). As a management practice, offshoring originated in the late seventies (Lewin & Peeters, 2006). For example, India and China can be considered "offshore" for both the United Kingdom and the United States. In essence, offshoring refers to the cross-border relocation of a firm's value chain activities, which were once carried out somewhere like the firm's home country, to distant locations, seeking to serve an increasing global demand (Doh et al., 2009, Lewin et al., 2009, Pfannenstein & Tsai, 2004, Stephan et al., 2008). This practice has been associated with an overall economic benefit in terms of productivity, quality, and customer satisfaction. As companies face strong pressure to reduce costs and improve efficiency, offshoring has become one of

their most popular operational strategies (Gottfredson *et al.*, 2005). However, it poses significant challenges (Levy, 2005) arising from cultural barriers related to different ways of doing business in the countries involved. These issues can negatively affect asset ownership, management control, or intellectual property (Lampel & Bhalla, 2011). Besides, there are other economic risks such as production and logistic process halts and the loss of innovative inertia in the production process, among others.

Offshoring opens new opportunities for different-sized companies seeking to transcend from regional to global domains. The availability of low-cost communications, the commercialization of technologies, and the ease of access to global human resources have allowed many companies to implement offshore services in cheaper emerging markets (Donaldson, 2014).

## Nearshoring

An emerging trend against offshoring has been observed mostly in the last decade. Some companies that had moved their production to distant nations have brought it to their home or neighboring countries (Ellram *et al.*, 2013, Kinkel, 2012). The literature has not sufficiently explored this emerging alternative, even though companies locate approximately one in five overseas projects in a nearshore location (Hahn *et al.*, 2011). According to (Bock, 2008), nearshoring is outsourcing located in neighboring countries with shared geographical boundaries and/or economic and social similarities. These shared aspects facilitate the adaptation of the new location in aspects such as language, culture, and respect for intellectual property, among others.

Nearshoring is characterized by two primary components, namely physical proximity and trade agreements, which promote the integration of the countries and the regional economy (Hahn et al., 2011). According to these authors, said integration not only facilitates access to services and productive capacity investments in the destination country, but also removes transaction cost barriers. Likewise, they consider that shared legislation features smooth the mobility of human talent between countries.

The practice of nearshoring selects locations that are not thought to represent the highest cost savings but do bring about staff mobility savings and lower risks. Interest in nearshoring is manifold: Taking advantage of technical knowledge; lack of language barriers with local workers and clients (who therefore are more likely to understand cultural aspects); and shared time zones. All these aspects facilitate the whole coordination of operations. In this way, companies generally maintain similar socioeconomic and political conditions, which reduces risk-control-related costs in the practice of nearshoring as compared to offshoring.

Whereas nearshore locations may be less prone to significant changes in the business environment, companies may reassess offshore plans due to certain concerns (Drezner, 2004). For example, considerations about the quality and reliability of some services, as well as infrastructure deficiencies in locations such as India, make it difficult to keep pace with demand.

Table I. Offshore, Nearshore and Onshore compared production of a pair of Jeans

Outsourcing mode	Case	Location	Transport time (days)	Cost USD	China (base case)
Offshoring		Bangladesh	30	10.68	-11 %
		China	30	12.04	0%
Nearshoring	USA	Mexico	2	10,57	-12 %
Onshoring		USA	na	14,05	17 %
		Bangladesh	30	9,94	-20 %
Offshoring		China	30	12,46	0 %
Nearshoring	Germany	Turkey	3-jun	12,08	-3 %
Onshoring		Germany	na	30,36	144 %

**Source:** The authors.

However, determining the right strategy is a complex decision. In this regard, table I shows the calculated cost of producing a pair of jeans and importing them to the USA or Germany as framed in the different outsourcing strategies in question: Nearshoring, offshoring and onshoring (the latter can be seen as an extreme case of nearshoring, i.e., producing in the home country). The results show that for Europe the unit costs are significantly lower when manufacturing in Bangladesh (offshore) than in Turkey (nearshore). Contrarily, in the case of the US production costs in Mexico (nearshore) are a little lower than in Bangladesh (offshore), and delivery time reduces from 30 to 2 days.

A consulting study on the topic (Andersson *et al.*, 2018) allowed for the rejection of the hypothesis that offshoring minimizes costs in and of itself. Instead, it is necessary to conduct rigorous analyses of outsourcing alternatives on a case-by-case basis, addressing economic, productive, and sustainability considerations.

#### **Extracting data**

#### Contrasting nearshore and offshore strategies

The following is a review of the literature on the topic, seeking to deepen the study of the criteria and conditions that influence the decision to undertake offshoring or nearshoring strategies.

Service offshoring, commonly defined as the international relocation of service provision, has become a relevant phenomenon in business. (Pisani & Ricart, 2016) have systematically reviewed, mapped, and evaluated the literature on the topic. A total of 79 studies conducted between 1990 and 2014 have been identified and analyzed from a selected group of 14 scientific journals.

(Lahiri & Kedia, 2011) provide an integral framework outlining various institutional and organizational factors that co-evolve to enable the participation of clients and suppliers in an offshore operation. Thus, customers must help suppliers to co-evolve as long-term business partners, while suppliers must address sources of concern related to high levels of labor turnover, insufficient generation of mid-level managers, and inadequate security measures. An offshoring analytical framework (Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009) suggests that companies should embark on the strategy when they perceive three interrelated sets of advantages: Disintegration advantages (D), location-specific supply advantages (L) and externalization advantages (E). These result in the Disintegration-Location-Externalization (DLE) framework. Companies tend to embark in offshoring strategies only when they perceive location-specific advantages in the form of supporting infrastructure, low wage rates or better quality of intellectual capital (ibid.).

In surveying and evaluating current nearshoring practices and prospects in the Baltic region, (Slepniov *et al.*, 2013) observed that small distances, both geographical and psychological, play an important role in the location of business branches. For instance, they found that the European Union has focused nearshoring practices in places such as the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, and the Baltic countries, whereas the United States is increasing nearshoring operations in Mexico, Costa Rica, and even Canada.

Nearshoring requires the possibility to save on freight tariffs and customs duties when exporting to closer countries (Andersson *et al.*, 2018). (Ruivo *et al.*, 2015) have introduced a policy development framework to enable the growth of nearshoring IT services. (Pranto & Coelho, 2019) compare nearshoring to offshoring IT service outsourcing through analysis by the proximity-based delivery method.

(Panova et al., 2016) have identified and analyzed factors that support European manufacturing nearshoring or offshoring towards Russia and China. They consider factors such as labor cost, inflation, exchange rate, and labor productivity, which are analyzed through deterministic models to identify logical dependencies.

The development of the decision model introduced by the present work implies, in the first place, the characterization of the two outsourcing strategies in question. For this purpose, a detailed comparison was carried out between the available outsourcing alternatives for the US, which may correspond to Latin America (nearshoring) and Asia (offshoring). Said contrast was established through a series of relevant aspects: Labor and productive capacity, political risk, resource funding, infrastructure, education, business culture, costs, operational risks, taxes, intellectual property, cultural affinity, operational control, and energy costs (table II).

Table II. Comparison between nearshoring and offshoring

Criterion	Offshoring	Nearshoring
Location	Longer distance to destination	Shorter distance to destination
distance	country	country
Labor and productive capacity.	Cheaper and highly qualified.	Cheaper than the US, but more expensive than Asia.
Governmental policy	Varies across countries, from lower to higher values of specific indicators (see Table III).	Usually high, with few exceptions (Venezuela).
Personnel rotation	Strong competitiveness leading to higher rotation.	Usually a more stable labor force, but less productive than in the USA, India, or China.
Technological infrastructure	Varies by country. Susceptible to natural phenomena and availability of infrastructure. Elevated telecommunication costs to and from the US.	It is usually very good but also susceptible to natural phenomena and infrastructure availability (i.e., electric power)
Education	Strong cultural differences with western education. Medium to high educational quality.	Western education, more adjusted to American than Asian culture. High to low educational quality. On average, it is lower than Indian or Chinese education.
Organizational culture	Medium adaptability to American business culture. Medium to low compatibility with the American political system.	Similar to Western culture. Most companies are driven by the Western calendar of activities.  High to medium compatibility with the US political system.
Production costs	Low production costs. Elevated logistic costs.	Medium production costs. Low logistic costs.
Tax rates.	Low customs duty fees. Medium regulatory, and social and economic instability.	Low customs duty fees. Medium regulatory, social and economic instability. There are no special regulatory constraints.
Respect for intellectual	High to medium risk of industrial espionage.	Low risk of industrial espionage.
property rights	High to medium risk of intellectual property right violation.	Low to medium risk of intellectual property right violation.

Table II continued from previous page

C.it.:	Table II continued from previous page						
Criterion	Offshoring	Nearshoring					
Cultural	Low to medium. Culture, political	High. Culture, political system, and					
affinity	system, and religion are significantly	religion are similar to American ones					
annity	different from those of the USA.	in most cases.					
Operative	Medium. Shared property in the case	High operative and managerial					
control	of China. In the other countries, there	High operative and managerial control.					
Control	are property rights.	Control.					
Energetic	High. Great dependence on external	Medium to low. High availability of					
costs	fossil fuels.	thermoelectric energy.					
		Medium to low. Building strategic					
Resource	Low. Building strategic alliances	alliances with destination countries is					
cooperation	with destination countries is tough,	difficult, especially due to the non-					
among	especially due to lack of confidence	alignment of key technological					
companies	for product development.	competencies in product development					
1		with Latin American companies.					
		Higher linguistic ability than most					
Linguistic	High to low in India. Low to medium	Asian countries, especially China.					
ability	in China.	Lower than India.					
	Medium to high. Due to long	Proximity with destination countries					
Timely	distances, timely delivery rates are	and shared ways of doing business.					
delivery	higher and more susceptible to	However, there is low regulatory					
rates	logistic breakages.	stability for business conduction.					
	Differences in culture, economy,	Proximity with destination countries					
Ease of	political ideology, and business	and shared ways of doing business.					
doing	practices can be difficult to	However, there is low regulatory					
business	overcome.	stability for business conduction.					
Availability	overcome.	smally for business conduction.					
of raw	Most raw materials are lowly	Most raw materials are highly					
materials	available.	available.					
Local							
	High. Asian currencies are usually	Medium. Latin American currencies					
currency	strong.	are relatively weak.					
strength							

**Source:** The authors.

# Analyzing and synthesizing data

# Outsourcing location decision

This section introduces the current outsourcing models or decision frameworks as found in the literature.

Using Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA), (Bunyaratavej et al., 2008) examined the offshore service attractiveness of hosting countries. They assessed which of them used their resources or inputs more efficiently to produce attractive offshoring outputs. They found that China, India, Ireland, the Netherlands, Pakistan, Slovakia, Spain, and the United Kingdom are particularly attractive locations, since they stand out in at least one of the key competence variables for creating input related efficiency (DEA inputs): Wages, education, and infrastructure (ibid.).

(Bock, 2008) states that, unlike the wage savings factor, which is easy to estimate, costs resulting from lower worker skills in potential outsource locations are difficult to estimate. This author proposes a model that considers the salary level, the different types of collaborators and their working skills as important outsourcing location decision-making factors. In analyzing surveyed data, (Ellram et al., 2013) explored factors affecting the location decisions of organizations, who were observed to give more weight to supply chain issues and strategic factors.

(López & Ishizaka, 2019) proposed a model based on Fuzzy Cognitive Maps (FCM) and Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP). The model allows estimating the impact of the location decision on the offshore outsourcing process. (Gerbl et al., 2015) developed a BPO (Business Process Outsourcing) structure by integrating certain characteristics of the company (internal availability of resources and capacity to outsource clients) with the attraction factors of a given location (distance, human capital, and government policy) to choose between onshoring, nearshoring, and offshoring.

In summary, the current literature review shows few works addressing the problem of outsourcing through decision support systems. This is certainly a relevant deficiency, especially considering that mathematical programming and multi-criteria decision methods, which constitute steadily developing basic and applied research fields, can aid such systems. The criteria considered in outsourcing decisions are presented in table III.

The multi-criteria decision process proposed in this paper gathers at least 20 criteria to which the decision makers usually refer when selecting between nearshore and offshore outsourcing alternatives (table IV). The table presents the level of favorability (+ or -) of the different criteria for each of the decision alternatives, under the dominant conditions during the study. Said favorability must be assessed by the decision makers of the companies as they apply it to the countries where the outsourcing strategy is to be developed.

References	Criterion	Indicator	Nearshoring	Offshoring
(López & Ishizaka, 2019),				
(Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009),	T1111	To Constant to the		
(Lahiri & Kedia, 2011),	Technological	Infrastructure	-	+
(Graf & Mudambi, 2005),	infrastructure	quality		
(Bunyaratavei et al., 2008).				

Table III. Outsourcing decision model

Table III continued from previous page

References	Criterion	Indicator	Nearshoring	Offshoring
(López & Ishizaka, 2019), (Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009), (Gerbl <i>et al.</i> , 2015), (Graf & Mudambi, 2005), (Bunyaratavej <i>et al.</i> , 2008).	Governmental policy	Political Stability Index Control of corruption. Government Efficiency	+	-
(López & Ishizaka, 2019),	Cultural	Affinity	+	_
(Bunyaratavej <i>et al.</i> , 2008).  (López & Ishizaka, 2019).	affinity  Tax rates	Actual amounts to be paid as taxes	-	+
(López & Ishizaka, 2019).	Linguistic ability	High linguistic ability	+	-
(Boardman Liu <i>et al</i> , 2008), (Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009), (Lahiri & Kedia, 2011), (Amiti & Wei, 2009), (Dibbern <i>et al.</i> , 2008), (Farrell, 2005), (Bunyaratavej <i>et al.</i> , 2008).	Production costs	Marginal production cost	-	+
(López & Ishizaka, 2019), (Boardman Liu <i>et al</i> , 2008)	Timely delivery rate	% of orders delivered in time	+	-
(Buss & Peukert, 2015).	Respect for intellectual property rights	% of violated patents	+	-
(Gerbl <i>et al.</i> , 2015).	Easiness for doing business	Level of easiness	+	-
(Ho et al., 2012), (Gerbl et al., 2015), (Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009), (Lahiri & Kedia, 2011), (Stephan et al., 2008), (Lewin et al., 2009), (Graf & Mudambi, 2005), (Bunyaratavej et al., 2008)	Labor and productive capacity	Performance level	-	+

Table III continued from previous page

References	Criterion	Indicator	Nearshoring	Offshoring
(Gerbl et al., 2015).	Location distance	Km	+	-
(Kedia & Lahiri, 2007), (Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009), (Mudambi & Tallman, 2010), (Tallman & Fladmoe-Lindquist, 2002), (Vivek et al., 2009).	Resource cooperation among companies	Level of cooperation	+	-
(Bock, 2008), (Hahn et al., 2011).	Operative control	% of compliance with procedures established by the company	+	-
(Bunyaratavej et al., 2008).	Education	% of literacy, Coefficient of Effectiveness	+	-
(Lahiri & Kedia, 2011)	Personnel rotation	% of personnel rotation	+	-
(Copuš <i>et al.,</i> 2019).	Organizational culture	Degree of motivation of employees	+	-
(Kamal <i>et al.</i> , 2019).	Energy costs	Energetic intensity Energetic efficiency	+	-
(Ferro & Bonollo, 2019).	Raw material availability	Raw material inventory levels	+	
(Shahzad et al., 2018).	Local currency strength	Big Mac Index Gross Domestic Product (GDP) CICR system (Currency Index Cross Referencing)		+

**Source:** The authors.

## **Report findings**

## The Latin American case

India, China, Taiwan, and Malaysia are the main centers of global outsourcing (Javalgi et al., 2009). In recent years, countries from Latin America, Africa and the Middle East have been increasing their participation in outsourcing processes (Bianchi et al., 2019). As regards the Latin American case, coun-

tries such as Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Peru, and Mexico have been carrying out outsourcing processes in recent years, with a particular emphasis on IT services (Vidal & Correa, 2007).

Table IV. Conditions for doing business in Latin America

Criterion	Advantages	Disadvantages	Nearshoring	Offshoring
Tanking	Geographical proximity with the United States			
Location	and Canada; relative		+	
distance	proximity with Europe.			
	Similar time zones.			
Cultural	Cultural affinity with		+	
affinity	the United States		+	
Language	Portuguese and Spanish			
Language skills	skills, having English as		+	
SKIIIS	a second language			
Power	Adequate energy		+	
costs	infrastructure		+	
Government		State and private		
policy		corruption		+
Tax rates	Significant tax incentives		+	
Labor and productive capacity	Lowly competitive labor		+	
Technological infrastructure		Medium communications infrastructure		+
Production costs	Low and medium cost labor		+	
Raw material availability	Abundant raw material sources		+	
Respect for intellectual property rights	Medium to high respect for intellectual property depending on the country			
Ease to do business		Similar business doing styles, although contrasted by high regulatory instability		+
Local currency strength		Weak regional currencies		+

Table IV continued from previous page

Criterion	Advantages	Disadvantages	Nearshoring	Offshoring
Timely	Timely delivery due to			
delivery	proximity with the		+	
rate	USA			
Operative	Strong operative		+	
Control	managerial control			
	Western education,			
Education	strong ties and good		+	
Education	understanding of USA			
	commerce			
	Similar to western			
Organizational	culture. Most companies		+	
Culture.	follow the western			
	calendar.			
Personnel	Usually a more stable		+	
rotation.	labor force.			
Resource	Similar time zones and			
cooperation	cultures facilitate		+	
among	alliances among			
companies	companies			

**Source:** The authors.

Latin American governments are currently promoting foreign investment through tax benefits. Although they have trained human capital and labor at reasonable costs, they lag in logistics, regulatory stability, and corruption levels. Nevertheless, North American and Western European firms have found an attractive nearshore or offshore destination in Latin America, especially due to cultural and ideological affinity and a remarkable ease of negotiating terms. In this regard, the outsourcing industry in Latin America is growing faster than in other regions (Bianchi *et al.*, 2019). This part of the continent is the third most popular destination in the world for outsourcing services or processes (KPMG, 2009). Among the nearshoring criteria for Latin America are costs, technology, skilled labor, economic stability, proximity to the U.S. and Europe, English and Spanish skills, and time zone alignment with the U.S. and Canada (Honeycutt *et al.*, 2012).

In terms of competitiveness, the region is highly heterogeneous. According to (Drezner, 2004), there are differences related to competitiveness, especially regarding institutions, infrastructure, labor markets, and innovation. Countries like Chile, Panama and Costa Rica have received the highest scores, while countries like Venezuela, Paraguay and El Salvador have got the lowest scores in the region for the different dimensions of the Global Competitiveness Index (GCI) 2017-2018. Intra-regional differences in terms of competitiveness are significant. While Chile ranks 33 among the 137 nations included in the GCI, Venezuela ranks 127. Globally, Latin America exhibits the greatest intra-regional

differences (Drezner, 2004). Table **IV** summarizes the conditions for doing business in Latin America as an outsourcing alternative.

#### RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

Offshoring usually brings about higher production capacities and lower manufacturing costs, which make this an ideal strategy for large scale production. The advantages of nearshoring have to do with its greater flexibility, which makes it ideal for the manufacturing of high utility margin products for exclusive markets. Despite this production logic, the concentration of manufactures from all the world in certain regions, particularly in China, has generated controversy. This is due to multiple reasons that ultimately go beyond production and link to politics and macroeconomics.

The contrast shows that the decision must be made in a holistic manner and in a longer-term than usual. Just as well, it must focus on both the productivity and sustainability of enterprises and supply chains.

The present paper focuses on the development of a taxonomy that identifies relevant criteria affecting outsourcing decisions in an integral context linking administrative, legal, productive, political, and cultural dimensions. This context provides the input for decision support systems linked to MCDM (Multicriteria Decision Making) techniques. Given the strategic nature of public decisions and the importance of investment in these environments, special attention is paid to them. The decision makers must determine the relevance of the criteria to adequately interpret the results of the support systems and make more technical decisions.

In this sense, a series of aspects must be taken into consideration: Managerial control, respect for intellectual property, operative risk, product mixing in different factories around the world, strategic alliances with different suppliers in global and regional contexts and, finally, the balance between productive costs and logistic and electric power costs. In contemporary socio-political settings, corporate decisions are likely to be affected by political choices at national and economic block levels.

Latin America has become an attractive nearshoring and offshoring option, especially for European and North American countries. For this purpose, nations and companies need to reformulate their growth strategies to promote logistic, technological, productive, and innovative capacities, as well as foreign investment, scientific and educational development, and the growth of demand across regions.

#### **FINANCING**

The current work was funded by the Universidad Pedagógica y Tecnológica de Colombia (UPTC) through GRANT DIN 14-2018.

### REFERENCES

- [Amiti & Wei, 2009] Amiti, M., & Wei, S.-J. (2009). Service offshoring and productivity: Evidence from the US. *World Economy*, 32(2), 203–220. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9701. 2008.01149.x \text{Ver página 134}
- [Andersson et al., 2018] Andersson J., Berg A., Hedrich, S., & Magnus, K. (2018). Is apparel manufacturing coming home? McKinsey Apparel, Fashion & Luxury Group. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/retail/our-insights/is-apparel-manufacturing-coming-home †Ver página 129, 130
- [Bianchi *et al.*, 2019] Bianchi, C., Mingo, S., & Fernandez, V. (2019). Strategic management in Latin America: Challenges in a changing world. *Journal of Business Research*, 105, 306–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.022 \textsqrayVer página 135, 137
- [Boardman Liu *et al*, 2008] Boardman Liu, L., Berger, P., Zeng, A., & Gerstenfeld, A. (2008). Applying the analytic hierarchy process to the offshore outsourcing location decision. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 13(6), 435–449. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540810905697 \text{Ver página 134}
- [Bock, 2008] Bock, S. (2008). Supporting offshoring and nearshoring decisions for mass customization manufacturing processes. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 184(2), 490–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2006.11.019 \text{Ver página 126, 128, 133, 135}
- [Bunyaratavej *et al.*, 2008] Bunyaratavej, K., Hahn, E. D., & Doh, J. P. (2008). Multinational investment and host country development: Location efficiencies for services offshoring. *Journal of World Business*, 43(2), 227–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2007.11.001 ↑Ver página 126, 133, 134, 135
- [Buss & Peukert, 2015] Buss, P., & Peukert, C. (2015). R&D outsourcing and intellectual property infringement. *Research Policy*, 44(4), 977–989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014. 11.006 \text{Ver página } 134
- [Contractor *et al.*, 2010] Contractor, F. J., Kumar, V., Kundu, S. K., & Pedersen, T. (2010). Reconceptualizing the firm in a world of outsourcing and offshoring: The organizational and geographical relocation of high-value company functions. *The Journal of Management Studies*, 47(8), 1417–1433. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00945.x \tag{Ver página 127}
- [Copuš *et al.*, 2019] Copuš, L., Šajgalíková, H., & Wojčák, E. (2019). Organizational culture and its motivational potential in manufacturing industry: Subculture perspective. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 32, 360–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2019.02.226 \text{Ver página 135}

- [Dibbern *et al.*, 2008] Dibbern, Winkler, & Heinzl. (2008). Explaining variations in client extra costs between software projects offshored to India. *The Mississippi Quarterly*, 32(2), 333. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148843 †Ver página 134
- [Di Gregorio *et al.*, 2009] Di Gregorio, D., Musteen, M., & Thomas, D. E. (2009). Offshore outsourcing as a source of international competitiveness for SMEs. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 40(6), 969–988. https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2008.90 †Ver página 127
- [Doh *et al.*, 2009] Doh, J. P., Bunyaratavej, K., & Hahn, E. D. (2009). Separable but not equal: The location determinants of discrete services offshoring activities. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 40(6), 926–943. https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2008.89 \tag{Ver página 127}
- [Donaldson, 2014] Donaldson, C. (2014). Offshoring Call Centres: A Balancing Act?. InsideHR. From https://www.insidehr.com.au/offshoring-call-centres-a-balancing-act/

  †Ver página 128
- [Drezner, 2004] Drezner, D. W. (2004). The Outsourcing Bogeyman. *Foreign Affairs*, 83(3), 22. https://doi.org/10.2307/20033973 †Ver página 128, 137, 138
- [Eden & Miller, 2004] Eden, L., & Miller, S. R. (2004). Distance matters: Liability of foreignness, institutional distance and ownership strategy. *Advances in International Management*, 187–221. Emerald (MCB UP). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0747-7929 (04) 16010-1 ↑Ver página 126
- [Ellram *et al.*, 2013] Ellram, L. M., Tate, W. L., & Petersen, K. J. (2013). Offshoring and reshoring: An update on the manufacturing location decision. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49(2), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12019 †Ver página 128, 133
- [Farrell, 2005] Farrell, D. (2005). Offshoring: Value creation through economic change. *The Journal of Management Studies*, 42(3), 675–683. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2005.00513.x †Ver página 134
- [Ferro & Bonollo, 2019] Ferro, P., & Bonollo, F. (2019). Materials selection in a critical raw materials perspective. Materials & Design, 177, 107848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2019. 107848 †Ver página 135
- [Foro Económico Mundial] Foro Económico Mundial. The global competitiveness report 2017–2018, 2018. Geneva, Suiza. Foro económico mundial. Available at: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/GCR2017-2018/05FullReport/TheGlobalCompetitivenessReport2017%E2% 80%932018.pdf †Ver página
- [García Cáceres & Escobar, 2016] García Cáceres, R. G., & Escobar, J. W. (2016). Caracterización de las problemáticas de la cadena de abastecimiento. *DYNA*, 83(198), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.15446/dyna.v83n198.44532 †Ver página 126

- [Gerbl *et al.*, 2015] Gerbl, M., McIvor, R., Loane, S., & Humphreys, P. (2015). A multi-theory approach to understanding the business process outsourcing decision. *Journal of World Business*, 50(3), 505–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2014.08.009 ↑Ver página 133, 134, 135
- [Gottfredson *et al.*, 2005] Gottfredson, M., Puryear, R., & Phillips, S. (2005). Strategic sourcing: From Periphery to the core. *Harvard Business Review*, 83(2), 132–139. †Ver página 128
- [Graf & Mudambi, 2005] Graf, M., & Mudambi, S. M. (2005). The outsourcing of IT-enabled business processes: A conceptual model of the location decision. *Journal of International Management*, 11(2), 253–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2005.03.010 ↑Ver página 133, 134
- [Gylling *et al.*, 2015] Gylling, M., Heikkilä, J., Jussila, K., & Saarinen, M. (2015). Making decisions on offshore outsourcing and backshoring: A case study in the bicycle industry. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 162, 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.01.006 †Ver página 126
- [Hahn *et al.*, 2011] Hahn, E. D., Bunyaratavej, K., & Doh, J. P. (2011). Impacts of risk and service type on nearshore and offshore investment location decisions. *Management International Review*, *51*(3), 357–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11575-011-0078-z ↑Ver página 126, 128, 135
- [Ho et al., 2012] Ho, W., He, T., Lee, C. K. M., & Emrouznejad, A. (2012). Strategic logistics outsourcing: An integrated QFD and fuzzy AHP approach. Expert Systems with Applications, 39(12), 10841–10850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2012.03.009 \text{Ver página 134}
- [Honeycutt *et al.*, 2012] Honeycutt, E. D., Magnini, V. P., & Thelen, S. T. (2012). Solutions for customer complaints about offshoring and outsourcing services. *Business Horizons*, 55(1), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2011.09.001 †Ver página 137
- [Javalgi *et al.*, 2009] Javalgi, R. (raj) G., Dixit, A., & Scherer, R. F. (2009). Outsourcing to emerging markets: Theoretical perspectives and policy implications. Journal of International Management, 15(2), 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2008.08.001 ↑Ver página 135
- [Kamal *et al.*, 2019] Kamal, A., Al-Ghamdi, S. G., & Koc, M. (2019). Revaluing the costs and benefits of energy efficiency: A systematic review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 54, 68–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.03.012 †Ver página 135
- [Kedia & Lahiri, 2007] Kedia, B. L., & Lahiri, S. (2007). International outsourcing of services: A partnership model. *Journal of International Management*, 13(1), 22–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2006.09.006 \text{Ver página 135}
- [Kedia & Mukherjee, 2009] Kedia, B. L., & Mukherjee, D. (2009). Understanding offshoring: A research framework based on disintegration, location and externalization advantages. *Journal of*

- World Business, 44(3), 250-261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2008.08.005 \text{Ver página 126, 130, 133, 134, 135}
- [Kehal & Singh, 2006] Kehal, H., & Singh, V. (2006). Outsourcing and Offshoring in the 21st Century: A Socio-Economic Perspective: A Socio-Economic Perspective. IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-59140-875-8 †Ver página 127
- [Kinkel, 2012] Kinkel, S. (2012). Trends in production relocation and backshoring activities. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 32(6), 696–720. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443571211230934 \( \text{Ver página 128} \)
- [KPMG, 2009] KPMG. (2009). Atracción "Nearshore" Latinoamérica, Destino Atractivo de Tercerización Global. From https://amiti.org.mx/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/2009\_Estudio\_AtraccionNearshore\_KPMG.pdf †Ver página 137
- [Lahiri & Kedia, 2011] Lahiri, S., & Kedia, B. L. (2011). Co-evolution of institutional and organizational factors in explaining offshore outsourcing. *International Business Review (Oxford, England)*, 20(3), 252–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2011.01.005 †Ver página 130, 133, 134, 135
- [Lampel & Bhalla, 2011] Lampel, J., & Bhalla, A. (2011). Living with offshoring: The impact of offshoring on the evolution of organizational configurations. *Journal of World Business*, 46(3), 346–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2010.07.007 \text{Ver página 128}
- [Levy, 2005] Levy, D. L. (2005). Offshoring in the new global political economy. *The Journal of Management Studies*, 42(3), 685–693. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2005.00514.x †Ver página 128
- [Lewin *et al.*, 2009] Lewin, A. Y., Massini, S., & Peeters, C. (2009). Why are companies offshoring innovation? The emerging global race for talent. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 40(6), 901–925. https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2008.92 \tag{Ver página 127, 134}
- [Lewin & Peeters, 2006] Lewin, A. Y., & Peeters, C. (2006). Offshoring work: Business hype or the onset of fundamental transformation?. *Long Range Planning*, 39(3), 221–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2006.07.009 \text{Ver página 127}
- [Liesch & Knight, 1999] Liesch, P. W., & Knight, G. A. (1999). Information internalization and hurdle rates in small and medium enterprise internationalization. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 30(2), 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8490075 †Ver página 126
- [López & Ishizaka, 2019] López, C., & Ishizaka, A. (2019). A hybrid FCM-AHP approach to predict impacts of offshore outsourcing location decisions on supply chain resilience. *Journal of Busi*-

```
ness Research, 103, 495-507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.09.050 ↑Ver página 133, 134
```

- [Mudambi & Tallman, 2010] Mudambi, S. M., & Tallman, S. (2010). Make, buy or ally? Theoretical perspectives on knowledge process outsourcing through alliances. *The Journal of Management Studies*, 47(8), 1434–1456. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00944.x †Ver página 135
- [Oviatt & McDougall, 2004] Oviatt, B. M., & McDougall, P. P. (2004). Toward a Theory of International New ventures. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 36(1), 29-41. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8490193 \( \frac{Ver página 126}{Ver página 126} \)
- [Panova *et al.*, 2016] Panova, Y., Emperor Alexander I St. Petersburg State Transport University, Hilletofth, P., & Jönköping University. (2016). Infrastructure project portafolios for sourcing nearshoring of manufacturing to Russia. *Russian Journal of Logistics and Transport Management*, 3(1), 52–63. https://doi.org/10.20295/2313-7002-2016-1-52-63 †Ver página 130
- [Pfannenstein & Tsai, 2004] Pfannenstein, L. L., & Tsai, R. J. (2004). Offshore Outsourcing: Current and Future Effects on American it Industry. *Information Systems Management*, 21(4), 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1201/1078/44705.21.4.20040901/84190.9 \text{Ver página 127}
- [Pisani & Ricart, 2016] Pisani, N., & Ricart, J. E. (2016). Offshoring of Services: A Review of the Literature and Organizing Framework. *Management International Review*, 56(3), 385–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11575-015-0270-7 \text{Ver página 129}
- [Pranto & Coelho, 2019] Pranto, S., & Coelho, A. (2019). The Attitudes Towards Nearshoring vs. Offshoring on the IT Services Industry. *Handbook of Research on Corporate Restructuring and Globalization*, 213–233. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-8906-8.ch010 ↑Ver página 130
- [Riopel *et al.*, 2005] Riopel, D., Langevin, A., & Campbell, J. F. (2005). The network of logistics decisions. In *Logistics Systems: Design and Optimization*, 1–38. Springer-Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-24977-X\_1 \tag{Ver pagina 126}
- [Rodado *et al.*, 2017] Rodado, D. N., Escobar, J. W., García-Cáceres, R. G., & Atencio, F. A. N. (2017). A mathematical model for the product mixing and lot-sizing problem by considering stochastic demand. *International Journal of Industrial Engineering Computations*, 237–250. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.ijiec.2016.9.003 \textsqrapering Terminal Termin
- [Ruivo *et al.*, 2015] Ruivo, P., Rodrigues, J., Neto, M., Oliveira, T., & Johansson, B. (2015). Defining a framework for the development of ICT services "nearshoring" in Portugal. *Procedia Computer Science*, 64, 140–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.08.474 †Ver página 130

- [Ruiz-Arranz et al., 2018] Ruiz-Arranz, M., Beverinotti, J., Andrian, L. G., Stucchi, R., Lotti, G., Castellani, F., Castilleja, L., Borensztein, E., Martin, L., Rodriguez, P. A. G., Avellán, L., Carrillo, P. E., Chacón, N., Calderon, Z. L., & Deza, M. C. (2018). *Creciendo con Productividad: Una agenda para la Región Andina*, Inter-American Development Bank. https://doi.org/10.18235/0001178

  †Ver página 126
- [Schmeisser, 2013] Schmeisser, B. (2013). A systematic review of literature on offshoring of value chain activities. *Journal of International Management*, 19(4), 390–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2013.03.011 \text{Ver página 127}
- [Shahzad *et al.*, 2018] Shahzad, S. J. H., Arreola-Hernandez, J., Bekiros, S., & Rehman, M. U. (2018). Risk transmitters and receivers in global currency markets. *Finance Research Letters*, 25, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.frl.2017.09.018 †Ver página 135
- [Slepniov *et al.*, 2013] Slepniov, D., Brazinskas, S., & Vejrum Wæhrens, B. (2013). Nearshoring practices. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 8(1), 5–26. https://doi.org/10.1108/17465261311291632 \( \frac{Ver}{Ver} \) página 130
- [Stephan *et al.*, 2008] Stephan, M., Silvia, M., & Arie Y., L. (2008). A dynamic perspective on next-generation offshoring: The global sourcing of science and engineering talent. *The Academy of Management Perspectives*, 22(3), 35–54. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2008.34587994 †Ver página 127, 134
- [Tallman & Fladmoe-Lindquist, 2002] Tallman, S., & Fladmoe-Lindquist, K. (2002). Internationalization, Globalization, and Capability-Based Strategy. In *California Management Review*, 45(1), 116–135. https://doi.org/10.2307/41166156 \times Ver página 135
- [Vidal & Correa, 2007] Vidal, G., & Correa, E. (2007). Outsourcing and FDI in developing countries: The case of the Mexican economy. *The Journal of Economic Asymmetries*, *4*(1), 111–122. ↑Ver página 136
- [Vivek et al., 2009] Vivek, S. D., Richey, R. G., Jr, & Dalela, V. (2009). A longitudinal examination of partnership governance in offshoring: A moving target. *Journal of World Business*, 44(1), 16–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2008.03.017 †Ver página 135
- [Xiao & Watson, 2019] Xiao, Y., & Watson, M. (2019). Guidance on Conducting a Systematic Literature Review. In *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 39(1), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456x17723971 †Ver página 127

